# Received Washington State Supreme Court

OCT 0 1 2015
Ronald R. Carpenter
Clerk

No. 72314-6-1 (Court of Appeals)

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Michael Salewski, D.V.M., an individual, Petitioner,

v.

Pilchuck Veterinary Hospital, Inc., P.S., a Washington corporation, Respondent.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Charles J. Paternoster, WSBA # 38703 Parsons Farnell & Grein, LLP 1030 SW Morrison St. Portland, Oregon 97205

Email: cpaternoster@pfglaw.com

Telephone: 503-222-1812 Facsimile: 503-274-7979

Attorney for Petitioner Michael Salewski, D.V.M.

#

#### A. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Michael Salewski, D.V.M. seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision designated in Part B of this petition.

This case raises important issues regarding the enforceability of noncompetition agreements in the State of Washington, including the requirement that a noncompetition agreement entered into or modified after initial employment requires separate and additional consideration under *Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 828, 836-838, 100 P.3d 791(2004). The case also raises important questions about the fundamental fairness of liquidated damages clauses in noncompetition agreements where the set damages do not represent reasonable forecasts of the harm caused by a potential breach.

For the following reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (4).

#### **B. DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS**

Petitioner seeks review of the decision filed by Division I of the Court of Appeals on August 31, 2015, confirming the Arbitration Award and affirming the Trial Court's judgment against Petitioner. A copy of the decision is attached to this petition. App. 1-12.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

#### I. Issue No. 1.

Did the Court of Appeals erroneously find that there was adequate consideration for the modification of a noncompetition agreement entered

into by Petitioner after initial employment in the absence of additional and independent consideration?

## II. Issue No. 2

Did the Court of Appeals erroneously hold that the promises of other shareholders in separate employment agreements provided adequate consideration to support the enforcement of the noncompetition agreement in Dr. Salewski's agreement?

## III. Issue No. 3

Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding a liquidated damages clause that provided for \$300,000 in damages for any single violation of a noncompetition provision?

## D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dr. Salewski is a veterinarian specializing in alternative medicines, in particular chiropractic, acupuncture and Chinese herbal medicines.

CP 147. He became an employee of Pilchuck on December 17, 1992, and on that day, Pilchuck, as "Employer," and Salewski signed an Employment Agreement wherein Salewski agreed not to perform veterinary services of any kind for clients served by Pilchuck residing outside of the above stated areas for a period of three years." CP 146.

The 1992 agreement provided for liquidated damages of \$3,500 per month for each month of breach. CP 146.

Thereafter, Salewski became a shareholder in Pilchuck, buying into the practice and into the property upon which it operated, sometime between 1998 and 2000. CP 147. Each time a new owner was brought in as a shareholder, a new set of documents, including an agreement not to compete, were signed by the shareholders. CP 147. The terms of the agreements changed over time.

In January of 2007, (the agreement at issue in this case), seven shareholders, including Salewski, signed employment agreements.

CP 147. The January 2007 agreement increased the liquidated damages to \$300,000 and "for any violation of the covenant not to compete." CP 147, 150.

In 2008, Salewski indicated that he wanted to leave the ownership group. CP 147. As part of leaving the ownership group and again becoming an employee of Pilchuck, a stock redemption agreement was executed by Plaintiff and the remaining shareholders. CP 147. This Stock Redemption Agreement entered into in 2008 when Salewski became an employee again did not contain a new noncompetition agreement. Instead, a paragraph in the agreement merely referenced the noncompetition agreement between Salewski and Pilchuck executed on January 1, 2007. CP 147.

In December of 2010, after approximately two years working as an employee for Pilchuck, Salewski moved to Oregon and set up a practice there. CP 147.

The arbitrator found that Salewski violated the noncompetition agreement by providing veterinary services within 50 miles of Pilchuck and by performing veterinary services outside of the 50-mile radius for clients who had once been served by Pilchuck and awarded the amount of \$300,000 to Pilchuck, based on the liquidated damages clause. CP 147.

In reaching this conclusion, both the arbitrator and the Trial Court (in refusing to vacate the award) misconstrued the requirement under Washington law that a subsequent modification to noncompetition agreement must be supported by additional, independent consideration.

Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 836-838, 100 P.3d 791(2004).

Rather, the arbitrator did not account for the fact Salewski's employment status changed when he left the ownership group and became an employee of Pilchuck in 2008, merely relying on the conclusion that the "promises" of other Pilchuck shareholders in their own previous employment agreements served as sufficient consideration for the modification of Dr. Salewski's agreement. CP 148.

In affirming the decision on appeal, the Court of Appeals noted those decisions, such as *Labriola*, which recognize that independent consideration is required for a subsequent modification of a noncompetition agreement, but reasoned that such limitations do not apply

"to the modification of a noncompete agreement mutually entered into by all shareholders of a corporation." App. 8-9.

In addition, the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals also should have vacated the arbitration award based on clear legal error on the face of the award on the ground that the liquidated damages clause in the January 2007 agreement, which provided for \$300,000 in liquidated damages for any, single violation of the noncompetition provision constituted an unenforceable penalty.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. This Court should accept review of this case to clarify the holding of *Labriola* and to ensure its proper application to the facts here.

This case asks important questions about the enforceability of noncompetition agreements Washington. More specifically, this case touches on the key requirement under Washington law that a subsequent noncompetition agreement and/or a modification of a noncompetition agreement must be supported by separate and independent consideration. *Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.*, 152 Wn. 2d 828, 100 P.3d 791 (2004); *Schneller v. Hayes*, 176 Wn. 115, 28 P.2d 273 (1934).

At every turn of this case, this fundamental requirement under Washington law has been sidestepped, misconstrued or minimized. The

proper application of the rule articulated in *Labriola*, applied to the facts of this case, yields a simple conclusion – that the noncompetition agreement at issue here lacked separate, independent consideration and was therefore unenforceable.

Washington Courts are clear that a noncompetition agreement entered into after initial employment will be enforced only if it is supported by separate, independent consideration. See e.g., Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 836-838, 100 P.3d 791(2004); Rosellini v. Banchero, 83 Wn.2d 268, 273, 517 P.2d 955 (1974); Schneller v. Hayes, 176 Wash. 115, 118, 28 P.2d 273 (1934).

In cases where a noncompetition agreement is entered into after initial employment, this Court has explained that "[i]ndependent, additional consideration is required for the valid formation of a *modification or subsequent agreement*" of a noncompete agreement.

Labriola, 152 Wn.2d at 834 (emphasis added). Independent consideration may include increased wages, a promotion, a bonus, a fixed term of employment, or perhaps access to protected information. *Schneller*, 176 Wash. at 118-19.

In *Labriola*, the Court held that consideration was absent in a noncompetition agreement where the employer promised nothing in the way of future employment and nothing was stipulated as to wages.

Labriola, 152 Wn.2d at 838, 100 P3d 791. While the employer attempted to argue that the employee's continued employment served as consideration for the noncompete agreement, the Court rejected that contention and concluded that consideration was lacking. *Id*.

The concurring opinion in *Labriola*, authored by Justice Madsen, also provided additional guidance. There, Justice Madsen clarified that under Washington law, "[c]ontinued at-will employment, without more, is never sufficient consideration for a noncompete agreement formed subsequent to employment." *Labriola*, at 844 (Madsen, J., concurring) Moreover, Justice Madsen reiterated that "[t]he general rule in Washington is that consideration exists [only] if the [e]mployee enters into a noncompete agreement when he or she is first hired." *Id*.

In finding consideration for the noncompetition covenant, the arbitrator misconstrued the holding of the Washington Supreme Court in *Labriola*. Instead, the arbitrator relied on the language in *Labriola* that discusses the rule that applies to noncompetition agreements entered into when an employment relationship begins, finding that consideration exists if the employee enters into a noncompete agreement when he or she is first hired. *See Labriola*, 152 Wn.2d at 836-38.

But *Labriola* does not stand for the proposition that consideration at the beginning of the employment relationship is a "blank check" that

stands as consideration for any subsequent agreement or modification. Instead, *Labriola* provides that even if there was consideration at the beginning of the employment relationship for a noncompetition agreement, any subsequent agreement or modification, after initial employment, must be supported by additional and independent consideration. *Labriola*, 152 Wn.2d at 836-838.

As one in a series of agreements with changing terms, the

January 2007 noncompetition covenant needed to be supported by
separate and independent consideration as required by *Labriola* and it was
error on the face of the award for the arbitrator to enforce the
noncompetition agreement.

In addition, both the arbitrator and then the Trial Court compounded this error by failing to consider Salewski's change of employment status in 2008, instead reasoning that under *Labriola*, Salewski's continued employment served as sufficient consideration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This requirement of additional, independent consideration for each subsequent noncompetition agreement or modification is driven home by the fact that here, each subsequent version of the noncompetition agreement was different. As noted by the arbitrator in his Findings of Fact, from 1992 to 2007, the noncompetition covenant changed dramatically. CP 146-47. The radius of the geographical restriction changed from 25 to 50 miles. CP 146-47. The liquidated damages provision increased, over time, from \$3,500 per month for each month of breach, to \$200,000, to ultimately \$300,000 for any violation in the 2007 covenant. CP 146-147.

While noting Salewski's change in employment status in 2008 back to an employee in his Findings of Fact, the arbitrator did not account for this change in Salewski's employment status, an event which required additional, independent consideration for the subsequent noncompetition agreement to be enforceable. CP 147. The Trial Court made a further error in analyzing this question, recognizing the importance of, but ultimately concluding that *Labriola* stood for the proposition that continued employment was sufficient consideration. CP 23-24.

This error by the Trial Court highlights the need of this Court to accept review. Unlike the arbitrator, the Trial Court noted that one of the key issues when it came to determining whether there was adequate consideration for the noncompetition agreement was Salewski's change of employment status in 2008. CP 23:4-22. But while the Trial Court isolated the correct issue, it then reached the wrong answer by misconstruing *Labriola* and holding that continued employment can and does serve as consideration for a subsequent agreement. CP 24: 11-25.

Rather than concluding that *Labriola* required separate, additional consideration for a subsequent modification of a noncompetition agreement, the Trial Court concluded that there were inconsistencies in the holding of *Labriola*, with the Supreme Court stating at one point that there has to be independent, additional consideration when there are

re-modifications of the original employment contract (the Trial Court's reference to the "page 834" analysis) and at another point saying that continued employment does serve as consideration (the Trial Court's "page 836" analysis.) CP 24. In short, the Trial Court appears to have settled on the conclusion that the reference to the previous noncompetition agreement, along with continued employment, was sufficient consideration.

But this conclusion is inconsistent with the dictates of *Labriola*. In fact, Justice Madsen, in concurrence, expressly addressed this type of situation, explaining that "[c]ontinued at-will employment, without more, is never sufficient consideration for a noncompete agreement formed subsequent to employment." *Labriola*, at 844 (Madsen, J., concurring). The Trial Court's reading of *Labriola*, and its reliance on *Labriola* for the proposition that continued employment is sufficient consideration for a subsequent noncompetition agreement, is a misconstruction that this Court should clarify by accepting review.

As a final matter, the decision by the Court of Appeals also clouds rather than clarifies this Court's holding in *Labriola*. While the Court of Appeals' opinion noted *Labriola* and those decisions which recognize that independent consideration is required for a subsequent modification of a noncompetition agreement, the Court of Appeals reasoned that such

limitations do not apply "to the modification of a noncompete agreement mutually entered into by all shareholders of a corporation." App. 8-9.

But this conclusion is also mistaken and without support under Washington law. Instead, the reason that there is no "other" authority for applying the requirement of additional consideration to the modification of a noncompete agreement mutually entered into by all shareholders of a corporation is because it is not necessary to analyze such a situation any differently that this Court did in *Labriola*.

The rule articulated in *Labriola*, that additional, independent consideration is required for a subsequent modification of a noncompetition agreement is as logical in the context of a mutual agreement between shareholders as it is in the employment context.

Moreover, this case presents a prime example of why different levels of analysis or scrutiny should not be applicable in such a situation. Here, at least initially, Petitioner signed a noncompetition agreement as a shareholder, only to have his status change (becoming an employee again in 2008), without receiving any additional, independent consideration for the noncompetition agreement modification at that time. Such a change potentially implicates a corresponding change in bargaining power between the parties, making it incongruent to continue to analyze the agreement with the "lesser scrutiny" standard the Court of Appeals would apply to relationships between shareholders.

In short, the Court of Appeals' opinion implies that a different level of scrutiny should be applied depending on the nature of the relationship. *See* App. 9, fn 26. Yet there appears to be no authority in either Washington law, or the holding of *Labriola*, for this proposition.<sup>2</sup>

The issues at the heart of this case impact the enforceability of all noncompetition agreements Washington. This Court should accept review of this case to provide clarification as to the standard to be applied in assessing the validity of noncompetition agreements and to provide additional guidance as to the rule articulated in *Labriola* that a subsequent noncompetition agreement and/or a modification of a noncompetition agreement must be supported by separate and independent consideration.

2. The Court should also accept review to clarify the boundaries of reasonableness with respect to liquidated damages found in noncompetition agreements in Washington.

This case also raises important issues about the fundamental fairness of liquidated damages clauses in noncompetition agreements which, on their face, do not represent reasonable forecasts of the harm caused by a potential breach. The Court should accept review of this case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Indeed, the Court of Appeals, without citing the case advanced by Pilchuck, Georgia Court of Appeals case of *Pittman v. Harbin Clinic Professional Association*, 210 Ga. App. 767, 437 S.E.2d 619 (1993), appears to implicitly accept the position that less scrutiny should apply to an agreement between mutual shareholders (even one that arises in the employment context).

to address the question of the liquidated damages clause at issue here, which is squarely before the Court in the plain language of the arbitration award.

Washington Courts will not uphold a liquidated damages provision that constitutes a penalty or is otherwise unlawful. Wallace Real Estate Inv., Inc. v. Groves, 124 Wn.2d 881, 881 P.2d 1010 (1994). Liquidated damage clauses are considered penalties and consequently unenforceable when they are punitive in nature and not an attempt to estimate damages in the event of a breach. "Its essence is a payment of money stipulated as in terrorem of the offending party, while the essence of liquidated damages is a genuine covenanted pre-estimate of damages." Lind Building Corp. v. Pacific Bellevue Developments, 55 Wn. App. 70, 75, 776 P.2d 977 (1989).

In this case, the arbitration award sets forth the terms of the liquidated damages clause, which provides "Employee agrees to pay liquidated damages in the amount of Three Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$300,000) for any violation of the covenant not to compete." CP 150.

The face of the arbitration award reveals that this \$300,000 liquidated damages figure was the amount to be assessed for any, single violation of the noncompetition agreement – that is, any violation occurring at any time during the three-year period, whether inside the 50-mile geographic radius for a single patient who had no connection to

Pilchuck, or without geographic bounds for anyone formerly treated at Pilchuck. CP 150.

In analyzing whether the liquated damages clause was enforceable, the arbitrator engaged in, at best, a conclusory examination, reasoning that:

Plaint [sic] has not persuaded this arbitrator that the liquidated damages amount was not a reasonable forecast of just compensation for the harm of violation of the non-compete agreement and was a mere penalty.

CP 150.

The arbitrator did not discuss, nor make any factual findings related to the fact that \$300,000 for a single violation of a 50-mile noncompetition covenant was a reasonable forecast of damages. Instead, the arbitrator appeared to merely rely on the fact that the shareholders had previously agreed to raise the amount from \$200,000 to \$300,000, and cited boilerplate language in the agreement that the liquidated damages clause was necessary and did not create an undue hardship.

In upholding the arbitrator and Trial Court's decision, the Court of Appeals engaged in a similar cursory analysis, noting the arbitrator's conclusion that the \$300,000 figure was reasonable, and reasoning that it was not appropriate to go beyond the face of the award to evaluate the evidence before the arbitrator. App. 11.

But here, it was not necessary for the Court of Appeals to go beyond the face of the award and evaluate the evidence before the arbitrator in order for the Court of Appeals to determine that the liquidated damages provision was unreasonable. Instead, by its very terms, the \$300,000 figure for a single violation by Dr. Salewski for performing veterinary services simply cannot be construed as "a genuine covenanted pre-estimate of damages" and must be deemed a penalty. *Lind Building Corp.*, 55 Wn. App. at 75.

The \$300,000 figure is not based on any formula and bears no reasonable relation to any actual damage that might befall Pilchuck if a veterinarian were to leave the practice and compete. This is especially the case here where the \$300,000 must be paid for any violation during the three-year period, whether inside the 50-mile geographic radius for a single patient who had no connection to Pilchuck, or without geographic bounds for anyone formerly treated at Pilchuck. CP 150.

The shareholders' agreement as to this figure is simply not sufficient to justify it; following this logic, all cases and contracts with liquidated damages provisions would not be subject to challenge inasmuch as they are agreed to by the parties prior to the dispute arising. In sum, rather than serving as a reasonable forecast of just compensation for the

harm caused by a breach, this kind of an award is punitive in nature and it was clear error on the face of the award for the Trial Court to enforce it.

The issue of liquidated damages clauses and their reasonableness is also important and central to the enforceability of all noncompetition agreements Washington. This Court should accept review of this case to provide clarification as to the boundaries of this reasonableness when it comes to assessing the validity of liquidated damages clauses in noncompetition agreements, particularly in cases where the damages under the liquidated damages provision do not represent reasonable forecasts of the harm caused by a potential breach.

#### F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Petitioner respectfully requests that the Court grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision.