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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

Salewski seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), claiming that the 

Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this Court, and under 

RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ), claiming that issues of significant public interest have been 

raised. 

A. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with this 
Court's decision in Labriola 
In Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 100 P.3d 791 

(2004 ), this Court held that "independent consideration is required at the 
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time promises are made for a non-compete agreement when employment 

has already commenced." In Labriola, the employee signed a non-compete 

agreement upon commencement of his employment. The non-compete 

clause had no geographic scope. Five years later his employer had him sign 

a modification of the non-compete agreement limiting the geographic scope 

to within 75 miles of employer's business. This Court viewed that 

modification as a new non-compete agreement and held that no adequate 

consideration was provided because the terms of employment did not 

change and the employer made no promises to the employee regarding his 

future employment. 

In this case the Court of Appeals found that based on Ashely v. 

Lance, 75 Wn.2d 471, 475, 451 P.2d 916 (1969) the adequacy of the 

consideration should be viewed in the context of the agreement among 

owners versus an employee/employer relationship. Salewski at ~ 15 

(August 31, 20 15) The Court of Appeals found that the series of non

competes signed by Salewski throughout his terms of employment and 

while a shareholder in the company were a series of modifications of the 

original non-compete and that "the mutual promises of all of the owners of 

the business are adequate consideration" for a non-compete agreement 

among owners. Salewski at~ 17. 
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This holding follows Labriola in that the Court of Appeals found 

adequate consideration and therefore upheld the covenant not to compete. 

In Labriola this Court stated that courts generally do not inquire into the 

adequacy of the consideration but rather the legal sufficiency of the 

independent consideration given. !d. at 834. The consideration for 

Salewski' s modification of the terms of his non-compete was the mutual 

promise of all shareholders not to compete with the company after their 

employment was terminated. Salewski at~ 16-17. This would ensure the 

business interests and goodwill were protected and allow payment to the 

departing shareholder under the Company redemption agreement. 

The covenants entered into among the doctors/shareholders at PVH 

were all based upon the presumption and desire of the shareholders that by 

entering into the covenants not to compete were any one doctor to depart 

the practice, the remaining doctors could protect their very substantial 

investment and goodwill in the company. This increased the value of each 

of their shares and would be paid in the form of a higher share price upon 

sale or departure from PVH. This equal bargaining power and specific and 

deliberate negotiation is a broad and fundamental difference from a typical 

"master-servant" covenant not to compete, and the covenant not to compete 

in the instant matter is accordingly presumed valid. When the restrictive 
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covenants were modified it was highly unlikely that any one shareholder 

imposed his will on the other shareholders knowing who would be the first 

to leave. 

The mutual promises of the shareholders resulting in the increased 

value of the shares and the protection of their investment and goodwill in 

the company cannot be viewed as anything other than consideration. 

Salewski argues that the promises of the other shareholders cannot be 

consideration for his own promise not to compete and yet, as a shareholder 

Salewski relied upon this mutual promise to protect his own investment and 

goodwill. The redemption price of Salewski' s shares in PVH reflected the 

inherent value of the covenant not to compete. It would create unjust 

enrichment to allow Salewski to have redeemed his shares for full value and 

then allow him to compete to the detriment of the remaining shareholders. 

The Labriola decision could be viewed as ambiguous. In Labriola, 

the original non-compete contained no geographic scope and was a blanket 

prohibition on practice. The second non-compete agreement1 sought to 

limit the non-compete to a 75 mile geographic area. This modification was 

1 Arguably the 2002 non-compete was a mere modification of the 1997 non-compete. The 
issue would be whether there was consideration for the modification - not consideration 
for a new non-compete. A plausible argument could be made that the reduction in 
geographical scope to 75 miles was consideration. 
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in favor of the employee and without the modification the employee would 

be barred from any competition with employer, regardless of distance2. 

What the Court did not address in Labriola is whether independent 

consideration is required when an employer seeks to modify a current non-

compete agreement in the employee's favor. Employers may be reluctant 

to modify existing non-compete agreements until this issue is resolved. An 

employer would be better off attempting to enforce an existing non-compete 

rather than attempting to bring the non-compete into compliance with 

evolving case law or, as in the case of Labriola, reduce the scope of the non-

compete in favor of the employee. This issue may be ripe for consideration. 

B. Any issues of substantial public interest have already 
been decided under Ashley and Labriola 

In Ashley the Court recognized that in reviewing a non-compete 

agreement between partners a different level of scrutiny applied than a non-

compete agreement between an employer and employee. 75 Wn.2d at 475. 

In Labriola, this Court held that a modification of a non-compete agreement 

is enforceable if there was independent consideration at the time of the 

agreement. Labriola also stated that courts do not inquire as to the adequacy 

2 Such a non-compete would no doubt be unenforceable because of the fact that there was 
no restriction on geographical scope. 
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of the consideration but rather the legal sufficiency. Based on the above 

this Court has affirmatively stated that the mutual promises of shareholder-

employees to not compete are adequate consideration for modification of a 

non-compete agreement. 

C. The Court of Appeals decision follows this Courts rules 
regarding the reasonableness of liquidated damages 
provisions when negotiated and agreed to by 
shareholders of a company and represent a reasonable 
forecast of damages for violation of a non-compete 
agreement 

"[Washington courts] are loathe to interfere with the rights of parties 

to contract as they please between themselves, and the fact that the parties 

to a contract call a sum stipulated to be paid in case of breach of the contract 

liquidated damages is a circumstance to be given serious consideration in 

determining whether it is in fact liquidated damages." Management, Inc. v. 

Schassberger, 39 Wn.2d 321, 326, 235 P.2d 293 (1951). Liquidated 

damages clauses are looked at with favor, even in covenant not to compete 

cases. Perry v. Moran, 109 Wn.2d 691, 698, 748 P.2d 224 (1987). 

Liquidated damages clauses will be enforced if they are reasonable when 

they are entered into. 

The test for enforceability of liquidated damages is ( 1) the amount 

fixed must be a reasonable forecast of just compensation for the harm that 
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is caused by the breach, and (2) the harm must be such that it is incapable 

or very difficult of ascertainment. Management, Inc. v. Schassberger, supra 

at 327-28; Restatement (Second) of Contracts§ 356 (1981)). "The central 

inquiry is whether the specified liquidated damages were reasonable at the 

time of contract formation. The reasonableness of liquidated damages is not 

determined retroactively by their correspondence with actual damages, but 

by reference to the prospective difficulty of estimating the possible damages 

that would flow from a breach." Watson v. Ingram, 124 Wn.2d 845, 853, 

881 P.2d 247 (1994). 

The second factor does not play a large role, if any, in covenant not 

to compete cases because harm resulting to one business from the 

competition of another business is difficult to estimate accurately as a matter 

of law. Mead v. Anton, 33 Wn.2d 741,207 P.2d 227 (1949). Liquidated 

damages provisions are appropriate in covenant not to compete cases 

because "[t]he harm caused by the breach of a covenant not to compete is 

very difficult to accurately quantify." Perry at 887 (citing Walter Implement 

Co. v. Focht, 107 Wn.2d at 559, 730 P.2d 1340 (1987). (See also, Perry v. 

Moran, on reconsideration). 

The shareholders ofPVH, from time to time, specifically considered 

the economic cost to PVH should any of the shareholder employees desire 
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to leave the practice and compete with his former employer. The amounts 

derived from these discussions changed occasionally based on the economic 

circumstances. Concurrent with the discussions of the liquidated damages 

amount was a discussion regarding the amount or the method of paying for 

the redemption of a departing shareholder. These are sophisticated business 

persons who exercised their best business judgment to determine the 

outcome of their business decisions. Under the business judgment rule a 

court should not interfere with the business decisions made by a board of 

directors comprising equal peers. Scott v. Trans-System, Inc. 148 Wn.2d 

701,64 P.3d 1 (2003). 

The PVH shareholders decided that the best interest of the business 

and the shareholders were served by a liquidated damages clause in the non

competition agreement. Salewski agreed as a shareholder and expected all 

other shareholders to abide by the same agreement. Salewski received just 

compensation for his shares in PVH. Salewski had the choice to abide by 

the non-competition agreement he freely entered in to or to compete and 

pay the liquidated damages. The Court of Appeals decision upholding the 

liquidated damages as reasonable follows this Court's rules on liquidated 

damages. 

Ill 
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V. CONCLUSION 

As a shareholder of the PVH Salewski signed a Confidentiality And 

Non-Competition Agreement which was modified from time to time and 

which he reaffirmed when he sold his shares and returned to being an at

will employee. The Court of Appeals held that the mutual promises in a 

partnership agreement are adequate consideration for a non-competition 

agreement. Salewski signed the non-competition agreement understanding 

that all shareholders would be bound by its limitations and consequences 

and that the promises of the shareholders created value reflected in the 

redemption prices of the shares. Salewski benefited from this value when 

his shares were redeemed by PVH. 

The liquidated damages clause is enforceable. The courts have held 

that liquidated damages are suited to a non-competition agreement as actual 

damages are difficult to quantify. Salewski signed the non-competition 

agreement with full knowledge as to the consequences as a shareholder of 

a corporation and intelligent businessman. Salewski did not have to violate 

the non-competition agreement. Salewski violated the non-competition 

agreement and in doing so he fully knew that he was subject to the 

liquidated damages clause. 
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Salewski' s Petition for Review should be denied. The Court of 

Appeals held that PVH was entitled to attorneys' fees in this matter. PVH 

hereby requests that the Court award it attorney's fees and costs for 

preparation and filing of this Answer per RAP 18.1 (j).